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FEDERAL ELECTIZ:.
COMMISSION
SECRETARIAT
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION .
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 005 APR 22 A II: b

April 21, 2005

MEMORANDUM : SENS|TIVE

TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
% ROBERT J. COSTA %
© DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
l|:‘w
- FROM: JOHND. GIBSON@ﬂ
ko ASSISTANT STAFE'DIRECTOR
o REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
5!
tn SUBJECT: - REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION - 2004 YEAR
o END REPORT FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINES PROGRAM

Attached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who failed to file, or
failed to timely file, the 2004 Year End Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On
December 27, 2004, Prior Notice was sent to all political committees and their treasurers,
informing them that the Year End Report was due on January 31, 2005.

The committees listed in the attached RTB Circulation Report either failed to file
the report, filed the report more than five (5) days after the due date, or filed the report
more than thirty (30) days after the due date (considered a non-filed report). In
accordance with the schedule of civil money penalties for reports at 11 C.F.R. 111.43,
these committees should be assessed the civil money penalties included on the report
provided.

Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers listed on the
RTB Circulation Report violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penaities would be the amounts indicated on the

RTB Circulation Report.

(2) Send the appropriate mailgrams.



25092574699

00€°€$

. LY'SLS 6C $002/10/£0 .
0 ON LIO'6SL 1S NOSMVTV NVITIIM 87096£00D
JAANVXATY ‘NIFID XL SSHYDNOD YOA NIFIIAD TV o104V
‘ 001% 01L'9% 0l $00¢2/01/20
0 ON L9S°8C1$ ONH TNWZVN LT$66£00D :
D HLIANNAA ‘ASYHD VN 4 LLIAWOD 3SVHO SYE10dV “
09¢$ 0v0'or$ 81 $00¢/81/20
0 ON £59°6£8°CS d4LLOd D WVITIIM vv096£000 .
ATdIN NHO( ‘AQANNIA vVl ONIHLVNAS SN 404 AGANNIA NHOf pre1odv .
SLY'1S 666'SE1S L $002/L0/20
0 ON LYLLIL'ES AQNHDSL VANVM 0veEL8E00D
(OVIN) NZTTV TAVHDIW ‘SNIT10D VD JLVNIS 4Od4 SNITTI0D OVIN theiodv
ALTVNHAd AGNOW TIAID ALIALLOYV 40 TdAT] 4LV SAvVA 41vd LdId04dd
SNOILV'IOIA SNOIAZYd JAILISNGS  LNNOWY A TOHSTIHL YFANSVIUL al I LLINWNOD
HNVN H4LVAIANVO 4LVLS dVN d4.LLINWOD # 4V
N3 dViA v002
1 :A9ADVd Hoday uone(na) 9A3ljag 0) uoseay
§00¢/12/v0 dLvd ¥00Z-£007 NOISSININOD NOILLOATH TvVdadd.d

l'



25092574700

0SZ$ 68€°CS pajig 10N S00Z/12/€0
0 ON £81°'6£€°CS s1090y sewoy], 08Z88€00D -
YIANVIWINOD STTIVHD ‘AVTID VD OO SSTUONOD 04 AVT1D ySE10dV .
00S°11$ (159) 880°£98% P2t 10N
0 ON 9L1'OZL 1S ATTINVLS NOLNYOH.L 4D11V 86€10+00D
NIV “T1NVS gh| ALVNIS 404 1TINVS £5€10dV
AL SLTS paji,] 10N $00Z/90/+0
| ON 90L'VTI1$ VAOJVL avid LTOZ6£00D
AIVHIIY SV19N10d “Y4.LLIS 0D SSTUYDNOD YO4 YALLIS 0SE104V
0SZ's$ (153) $99°08$ paliq 10N
z . ON 759°909% THVZ d SATIVHD r60S£00D
WOL “TTd9dNVD \%8) 4.LVNAS ¥0d T139dINVD 6v€104V
ALTVNAd AINOW TIAID ALIALLDV 40 TAAT1 41lV1SAvd d1vd Ld1FDay
SNOILVTOIA SNOIATYd JAILISNAS INNOWYV ATOHSIYHL ATINSVAIL dl 42.LLINNOD
: JWVN dLVAIANVD 4LV.LS FWVN FILLINWOD #dv
AaNd dVHA 00T
N “mo<n~ tomow— :o:&_zu.:mv 0>®:um~ [8)} =meo~_

$002/17/v0 ALVA v00Z-£007 NOISSINIWOD NOLLDF T4 Tvydaad

i

o

[
! w
P
4]
™
iy
3
ey
1™



25092574701

00L'T$ 0s9) vIZ'vLS P31 10N
0 ON 987'S¥b$ TAAANT J AYNTH 6SL68E00D -
NIV ‘HLINS ONW JT11 SSTADNOD YO4 HLINS 19€104V
005°c$ (152) 50°L8$ pajt 10N
0 ON 61€°609% MOTINMOYE NIATY £2998€00D
1NVd ‘4saamdda IN SSTADNOD YOI ASTAMAA TNV 4O SANINIA 6SE104V
006$ (0s9) y0L'9z$ Pa11q 10N
0 ON £€6'981% NVHVTIVO 1T IAVITIIM 89Z16€£00D
11 4 NHOf ‘SINNIDIDW anw ONI SSTAYDNOD YO SINNIIDW NHOf 8SE10dV
00L°T$ (159) 9ZS'vLS patid JION
0 ON v01°867$ WANA ¥ NGHJALS 6S9€0$00D
HLIAM NHOf ‘LLODS V1 SSTIONOD Y04 LLODS 9SE104V
ALTVNAd ATINOW TIAID ALIALLDV 40 TdATT HLV1SAVd 41vd Ldidday
SNOILVTOIA SNOIATId JAILISNGS INNOWV ATOHSTIHL ANINSYAYL dl F3LLINNOD
JWVN dLVAIANVD CARARS VN Fa.LLINNOD #dv
ANH dVIA $00T
m “m—mu<m to&oM :o:m_zou_U o>o=0m— 0] :ogox
S00Z/1Z/#0 A1vVd $00Z-€00T NOISSIWIWOD NOILDA1d Tvydadd

i

o]
U84
g
"y
[P
Ay}
1"
[47]

&y
=

IL
£



25092574702

ALTVNYd AINOWN TIAID
SNOILV'IOIA SNOIAHId

v dOVd
$00T/1¢/v0 41Lvda

ALIALLDY 40 TdATT
HALLISNAS  INNOWYV ATOHSTYHL
JNVN dLVAIANVD H4LVLS

ANd YVHA 00T
yoday uonemaI)) aAaljag o) uoseay

¥00Z-£€00C NOISSININOD NOLLDHTd Tvdddd:d

]

5]
TP
wy
[P

ke
(et}
(1]
e8]
Tt
e

4LV1SAVA 41Lvd 141903
JHANSVAIL dl 9. LLINNOD
JNVN H4LLINWOO # IV



25092574703

ALTVNAd AGNOWN TIAID
SNOILV'IOIA SNOIATId

S HdDvd
$00¢/12/¥0 41Lvd

ALIALLDV d0 TdAdT dLVTSAVdA 41vad L4103
HAILISNGS INNOWYV A TOHSAYHL HTANSVIIL dl 4LLINWOO
HJAVN dLVAIANVD 4LVLS JWVN d3.LLINNOD #4v
N4 dVHA v00C

uoday uonenan)) aA21jag 0) Uosedy
¥00C-£00C NOISSINIWOD NOLLOATE Tvydddd A

1 £
-

-
i

!l:‘:x‘

[
fuy

Ly
1™

My



25092574704

780°8¢$ 91 $00Z/91/20

0Zs$
0 ON L6EOLIS NNVINISTYM AYVD 0T667€000
VA OVAd"NOLLVIDOSSV SHOLOVIJOYTHD TVYNOLLYNYALNI I18€104V
002$ pEC9$ 0€ §002/20/€0
0 ON SES'0ZIS SAVITHIM AV 6v780Z000 |
OW IVd ANVAINOD D1Y1DF T4 LOIYLSIA FHIdNA 08€ 104V
00$$ | (1s9) 10L'91§ P3lid 10N
0 ON 802°001$ NIAVA SSOd WVITTIM Z69Y6£00D
SSHADNOD O
¥ WVITHM ‘NIAVA XL NAAVA WVITIIM LO3Td OL FILLINWOD 9LE104V
ALTVNAd AGNOW TIAID ALIALLDV 4O TAATT 4LV1SAvdad 41vd L4909y
SNOILVTOIA SNOIATYd HALLISNAS LNNOWY ATOHSTYHL YNINSVAIL di 3 LLINWOD
FWVN FLVAIANVD 4LVLS HVN F4.LLINWNOD #dAv
aNd ¥VaA $00T
9 IOV tonvw_ :O:a-:u,:U 3A31|ag O] Uoseay
$00Z/17/¥0 ALVA ¥00Z-€007 NOISSIWIWOD NOLLDATH 1vyaddd

nmw‘
G

I

u;:;r
fre
(R3]
)
£
el

Ry}

Z



25092574705

SLS'IS

(19) Lzv*ses P3id 10N
€ ON 60L1¥1$ HSRIYVd NVTIVH 9ZS60€000 -
v OVd TV¥EAd:d ONI dNOYOONVE TVINOIOD  88€104V
. |
SLES 0669% pajid 10N S00Z/£T/€0 |
_ ON SLE'OPTS dW HOOTINDDW 4NHLYV H 8.890£00D
ON OVd SALVIDOSSY VISTHISANY LSVEHLNOS  L8EI0dV
SElg SLT'ES B /4 $002/22/20
0 oN [L0°0VES dIHO M WVITTIM 906£5Z00D
od OVd WIOAT NOILVIOININI S N S8E104V
SS1$ 000'12$ g $00Z/11/20
0 oN S8L'9EIS SWIS H ¥vDad £8£16£00D
VD OVd dT1d90rATV ANV ONOTVNNTNOWN  Z8€104V
ALTVNAd AINOW TIAID ALIALLDV 40 TAATT 4Lv1SAvd 4Lva LdI30ay
SNOLLVTOIA SNOIATYd dALLISNGS LNNOWV QTOHSTYHL YTINSVAUL al 49.LLINWNOD
JAVN LVAIANVYD dLV1S dNVN d4LLINWOD #dv
ANF YVIA 00T
L IDVd f_OQOM :OUN_:P:U 0>0=0m~ 0) uosedy

$00T/12/v0 4LVA ¥002-£00C NOISSININOD NOILLOF 19 Tvddadd

]
Nl

(M)
M‘"ﬂ
by}

R

by

=y

o

£}
o

z
==

[
oo



25092574706

t .

0S8 LEL'ES Payid 0N S00Z/87/€0
0 ON STLOELS Ar SYIONAL TIHd 29€EV 100D
Td JVd 616 TVOOT SYFaNN1d 16£104V
AN E (1s9) 080°9€1$ Pajtd 1ON
S ON 00v'089% sui[[oD "y Inyuy TISLY100D
oa IVd SNONVI ADVTE TVNOISSTIDONOD 68€104V
ALTVNAd AGNOW TIALD ALIALLDV 40 TdAT1 4LV1SAVd 4Lvda 1Ldigoay
SNOILVTOIA SNOIATYd JALLISNAIS LNNOWYV ATOHSAYH.L ATINSVIILL dal F3.LLINNOD
JNVN 4LVAIANVD ERRARS FNVN daLLINNOD #dv

N3 JVdA 00T
g8 AOVd Hoday uonenaIy) 9A31jag 0) UOSEIY
$00¢/1¢/v0 4Lvd ¥00¢-£€00C NOISSINIWOD NOILOITa Tvdaadd

L]
[E

L)

I{:;:r

(i

Ry
g
oy

2
vt
]

[



ffon,
(8]
JP
|k:1ur
[
Lot
1"
o
L8y
[Xy
Al

25092574707

' l l

Cviii}::\: gl(;i(;;l!:?N COMMISSION | SENSITIVE :

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Eriday, April 22, 2005 12:00
BALLOT DEADLINE: Wednesday, April 27, 2005_4.00
COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT: Reason to Believe Recommendation -2004 Year End Report for
the Administrative Fines Program. Memorandum from the Assistant
Staff Director Reports Analysis Division dated April 21, 2005.

() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Reason To Believe Recommendation - 2004
Year End Report for the Administrative
Fines Program:

MAC COLLINS FOR SENATE, and
WANDA TSCHUDY as treasurer;

JOHN KENNEDY FOR US SENATE INC,
and WILLIAM C POTTER as treasurer;
CHASE COMMITTEE, and NAZMUL
HUQ as treasurer;

AL GREEN FOR CONGRESS, and
WILLIAM A LAWSON as treasurer;

CAMPBELL FOR SENATE, and
CHARLES P ZAHL as treasurer;
SITTER FOR CONGRESS, and BRAD
TAFOYA OF BROWN WHEELDON
TAFOYA & as treasurer;

SAULL FOR SENATE, and ALICE
THORNTON STANLEY as treasurer;

R N S NN

AF# 1345

AF# 1346

AF# 1349

AF# 1350

AF# 1353
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 27, 2005

CLAY FOR CONGRESS.COM, and
Thomas Rogers as treasurer,

SCOTT FOR CONGRESS, and STEPHEN
R FURR as treasurer;

JOHN MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC,
and WILLIAM L CALLAHAN as treasurer;

FRIENDS OF PAUL DEWEESE FOR
CONGRESS, and KEVIN BROWNLOW

as treasurer,

SMITH FOR CONGRESS LLC, and
HENRY F LUEPKE as treasurer;

)
)

)
)
)
)
)
)

AF# 1354

AF# 1356

AF# 1358

AF# 1359

"AF# 1361
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 27, 2005

COMMITTEE TO ELECT WILLIAM
(WILLIE) VADEN FOR CONGRESS, and
WILLIAM ROSS VADEN as treasurer;

EMPIRE DISTRICT ELECTRIC
COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and JAY WILLIAMS as
treasurer;

INTERNATIONAL CHIROPRACTORS
ASSOCIATION-POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and TIMOTHY E MENG
as treasurer;

MCKENNA LONG AND ALDRIDGE

LLP POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,

and EDGAR H SIMS as treasurer;

U S IMMIGRATION REFORM PAC, and
WILLIAM W CHIP as treasurer;

SOUTHEAST ANESTHESIA
ASSOCIATES POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and H ARTHUR
MCCULLOCH MD as treasurer;

Nt

N e S N N N N’ N S S’ N’

e e

AF# 1376

AF# 1380

AF# 1381

AF# 1382

AF# 1385

AF# 1387
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 27, 2005

COLONIAL BANCGROUP INC
FEDERAL POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (COLONIAL FED PAC),
and GLENDA ALLRED as treasurer,
CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCUS
POLITICAL ACTION

COMMITTEE(CBC-PAC), and Arthur R.

Collins as treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAL 519 POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and PHIL
TRUCKS JR as treasurer;

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Page 4

AF# 1388

AF# 1389

AF# 1391

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby

certify that on April 27, 2005 the Commission took the following actions on the Reason

To Believe Recommendation - 2004 Year End Report for the Administrative Fines

Program as recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated April’

21, 2005, on the following committees:
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Federal Election Commission Page 5
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 27, 2005

AF#1343 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that MAC
COLLINS FOR SENATE, and WANDA TSCHUDY as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropnate mailgram. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1344 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that JOHN
KENNEDY FOR US SENATE INC, and WILLIAM C POTTER as treasurer violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would
be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1345 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that CHASE
COMMITTEE, and NAZMUL HUQ as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did
not vote. '

AF#1346 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that AL GREEN
FOR CONGRESS, and WILLIAM A LAWSON as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1349 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that CAMPBELL
FOR SENATE, and CHARLES P ZAHL as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make
a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated
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Federal Election Commission . Page 6
Certification for Administrative Fines

April 27, 2005

on the report; (2) send the appropnate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner
did not vote.

AF#1350 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SITTER FOR
CONGRESS, and BRAD TAFOYA OF BROWN WHEELDON TAFOYA & as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropnate
mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1353 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SAULL FOR
SENATE, and ALICE THORNTON STANLEY as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Conimissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1354 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that CLAY FOR
CONGRESS.COM, and Thomas Rogers as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did
not vote.
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Federal Election Commission Pa
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 27, 2005
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AF#1356 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SCOTT FOR
CONGRESS, and STEPHEN R FURR as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did
not vote.

AF#1358 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that JOHN
MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC, and WILLIAM L CALLAHAN as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively
for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1359 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that FRIENDS OF
PAUL DEWEESE FOR CONGRESS, and KEVIN BROWNLOW as treasurer violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would
be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1361 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SMITH FOR
CONGRESS LLC, and HENRY F LUEPKE as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Toner did not vote.
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
Apnl 27, 2005
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 27, 2005

Page 9
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Federal Election Commission Page 10
Certification for Administrative Fines :
April 27, 2005

AF#1376 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that COMMITTEE
TO ELECT WILLIAM (WILLIE) VADEN FOR CONGRESS, and WILLIAM ROSS
VADEN as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that
the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and
Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1380 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that EMPIRE
DISTRICT ELECTRIC COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAY
WILLIAMS as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and
Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1381 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that
INTERNATIONAL CHIROPRACTORS ASSOCIATION-POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and TIMOTHY E MENG as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make
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Federal Election Commission Page 11
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 27, 2005

a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated
on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason. McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner

did not vote.

i

AF#1382 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that MCKENNA
LONG AND ALDRIDGE LLP POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and EDGAR H
SIMS as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1385 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that U S
IMMIGRATION REFORM PAC, and WILLIAM W CHIP as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners
Masén, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1387 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SOUTHEAST
ANESTHESIA ASSOCIATES POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and H ARTHUR
MCCULLOCH MD as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary

determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report,
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Federal Election Commission Page 12
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 27, 2005

(2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

AF#1388 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that COLONIAL
BANCGROUP INC FEDERAL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (COLONIAL
FED PAC), and GLENDA ALLRED as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald. Smith,
Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did
not vote.

AF#1389 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that
CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCUS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE(CBC-
PAC), and Arthur R. Collins as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Toner did
not vote.

AF#1391 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that PLUMBERS
LOCAL 519 POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and PHIL TRUCKS JR as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money

~ penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, and Weintraub voted affirmatively
for the decision. Commissioner Toner did not vote.

Attest:

Dat
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WESTERN UNICN COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF CHMGHM TCeWILLIAM L CALLAHAN
JCOHN MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC
2828 GRACEFIELD RD
SILVER SPRING MD 20904-1665

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
DAYNA BROWN

999 E ST NW # 709
WASHINGTON DC 20463

N APRIL 28, 2005

=] WILLIAM L CALLAHAN

™ JOHN MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC
P 2828 GRACEFIELD ROAD

o SILVER SPRING MD 20904

I

g C00391268
g 3] AF#: 1358
[y : ‘
by ODEAR WILLIAM L CALLAHAN:S ‘ f
ﬁ‘\ J‘

Py

THE FEDERAL ELECTIGN CAMPAIGN ACT GF 1971, AS AMENDED (™THE
ACT®), REQUIRES THAT YCUR COMMITTEE FILE A YEAR END REPORT OF !
RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS EVERY CALENDAR YEARe THIS REPORT,
COVERING THE PERIOD THROUGH CECEMBER 31ST, SHALL BE FILED NO LATER'
THAN JANUARY 31S5Te 2 UeSeCle 434(A)e YOU WERE PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED -
OF THE DUE DATE FOR THIS REPCRTe. RECORDS AT THE FEDERAL ELECTION
COMMISSION ("FEC®™) INDICATE THAT THIS REPORT WAS NOT FILED WITHIN
THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE DUE CATE. YOU SKHOULD FILE THIS REPORT IF
YOU HAVE NOT ALREADY DONE SQe.
THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENCED IN 1999 TO PERMIT THE FEC TO IMPOSE
CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES FOR VICLATIONS OF THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
OF 2 UeSeCe 434(A)e 2 UeSeCe 437G(AN(4)e ON 0472772005, THE FEC
FOUND THAT THERE 1S REASON TC BELIEVE ("RTB"™) THAT JOHN MCKINNIS
FOR CONGRESS INC AND YCUs AS TREASURERs VIOLATED 2 UeSeCe 434(A) BY
FAILING TO FILE TIMELY THIS REPCORT ON OR BEFORE JANUARY 31STe. BASED
ON THE FEC®S SCHEDULES OF CIVIL MONEY PCNALTIES AT 11 CeFeRe 11lle43y
THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MCNEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RT8 STAGE
IS $900. IT IS DUE BY 0670672005 AND IS BASED ON THESE FACTORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT: NOT ELECTION SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: $26704

NUMBER OF DAYS LATE: NOT FILED

NUMBER OF PREVIOUS CIVIL MCNEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: O

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
TO PAY THE CALCULATEO CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, SEND THE ENCLOSED
REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT T0O THE FEC AT THE ADDRESS ON PAGE 3.
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UPON RECEIPT OF YOUR PAYMENT, THE FEC WILL SEND YOU A FINAL
DETERMINATIGN LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTYy YOU MUST SUBMIT A WRITTEN RESPONSEs INCLUDING THE AF# FOUND
ON PAGE ONEy TQ THE FEC®S CFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWy 999 E
STREETs NWs WASHINGTONs DC 20463« YOUR RESPONSE MUST BE RECEIVED:
BY 0670672005 YOUR WRITTEN RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE REASON(S) WHY
YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RTE FINDING AND/CR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY. THE FEC WILL ONLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A
FACTUAL ERRORy MISCALCULATION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
BY THE FECey OR THE EXISTENCE CF EXTRAURDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAY
PERSISTED FOR MORE THAN 48 HGOURS THAT WERE BEYUND YOUR CONTROL AND.
PREVENTEC YOU FROM FILING THE REPORT. IN A TIMELY MANNER. YOUR
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASIS SUPPORTING THE REASON(S) AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION. THE FEC STRONGLY ENCCURAGES THAT DOCUMENTS
BE SUBMITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFIDAVITS OR DECLARATICONSe. EXAMPLES OF
CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOT BE CCNSICEREC EXTRAORDINARY INCLUDE, 8UT
ARE NOT LIMITEDC TOy NEGLIGENCEs PROBLEMS WITH VENDCRS GOR
CONTRACTORSy STAFF ILLNESSs COMPUTER FAILURES AND SIMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCESe 11 CeFeRe 11135(BI(1)(III) AND (4).

YOUR FAILURE TO RAISE AN ARGUMENT IN A TINELY FASHION DURING THE
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS SHALL BE DEEMED A WAIVER OF YOUR RIGHT TO
PRESENT SUCH ARGUMENT IN A PETITION YO THE DISTRICT COURT UNDER 2
UeSeCe 437Ge 11 CeFeRe 11l.38.

IF YOU INTEND TO BE REPRESENTED B8Y CCUNSELs PLEASE ADVISE THE
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWKe YOU SHGULD PRUVIDEs IN WRITING,
THE NAMEy ADDRESS AND TELEPHCNE NUMBER OF YOUR CCGUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL 7O RECEIVE NOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THIS
CHALLENGE AND IMPOSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

IF YOU D0 NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MCNEY PENALTY OR SUBNMIT A
CHALLENGE

IF YOU DO NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
WRITTEN RESPONSEs THE FEC WILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING FACTUAL
ALLEGATIONS ARE TRUE AND MAKE A FINAL DETERMINATION THAT JCHN
MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC ANC YOUy AS TREASURERy VIOLATED 2 UeSeCe
434(A) AND ASSESS A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

UNPAID CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSEL THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE REGULATIONS WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE LCEBT COLLECTION ACT OF
1982(™DCA®)AS AMENDED BY THE DEBT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF
19969 31 UeSeCe 3701 ET SECe THE FEC MAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHORIZEC AND REQUIRED B8Y THE CCAs AS AMENDED,
INCLUDING TRANSFER TO THE UeSe. DEPARTMENT QOF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTIONe 11 CeFeRe 1llle45.

THIS MATTER WAS GENERATED BASED ON INFORMATION ASCERTAINED BY
THE FEC IN THE NORMAL COURSE OF CARRYING OUT ITS SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIESe 2 UeSeCe 437G(A)(2). IT WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORLCANCE WITH 2 UeSele 437GCA)(4)(B) AND 437GLAI(12)(A) UNTIL
IT IS PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD IN ACCCRDANCE WITH 11 CeFeRe
1114429 UNLESS YOU NOGTIFY THE FEC IN WRITING THAT YOU WISH THE
MATTER TO BE MADE PUBLIC.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE FEC®'S ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAM,

WESTERN UNICON COMMERCIAL SERVICES
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WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES

INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATICNSy IS LOCATED AT THE FEC®S WEBSITE AT
WWW.FEC.60Ve IF YOU HAVE CUESTIONS REGARUING THE PAYMENT OF THE
CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYs PLEASE CCNTACT DAYNA C. BROMN IN THE
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION AT OUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-5530 (AT
THE PROMPT, PRESS 5) OR (202)694-1130. IF YOQU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE SUBMISSION OF A CHALLENGEy PLEASE CONTACT THE OFFICE
OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT GCUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530
{PRESS Q¢ THEN EXTe 1660) CR (202)694-1660.

SINCERELY,
SCCTT Ee. THCMAS
CHAIRMAN
» % ] * * ® * L B % * & » *

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHECULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CeFeRe
111.43y THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB IS
$900 FOR THE 2004 YEAR-ENC REPCRT.
PLEASE MAIL THIS REMITTANCE WITH A CRECK UOR HMONEY ORDER MADE :
PAYABLE TO THE FEDERAL ELECTIGN COMMISSICN TO THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS:
FEDERAL ELECTICN CCMMISSICGN
PeJe BOX 952182
STe. LOUISy MO €3195-2132

IF YCU CHOOSE TGO SEND YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT B8Y COURIER OR
OVERNIGHT DELIVERYy PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:
UeSe BANK - GOVERNMENT LOCKBCX
FEC #952182

1005 CCNVENTION PLAZA
STe LCUISy MO 63101

THE REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT ARE LUE BY 0670672005« UPON
RECEIPT OF YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT, THE FEC WILL SEND YOU A
FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELCW WITH YCUR PAYMENT

FOR: JOHN MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC
FEC ID#: C00391268

AF#: 1358

PAYMENT DUE DATE: (0670672005

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $500

PWF 015(20031201)
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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 J‘mfﬂﬁ?’ﬁﬂof'l LA %32

MEMORANDUM . SENS,'"vE

TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
ROBERT J. COSTA 7(7’@
. DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
o FROM: JOHN D. GIBSONCY)
wy ASSISTANT STAFE/DIRECTOR
h REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
(]
P SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
e RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2004 YEAR END REPORT

bk

[

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at the RTB stage for failure to file the 2004 Year End Report. The
first list represents committees that have paid the civil money penalties and the second list
represents the committees that have not paid. The committees that have not paid have
been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the RTB notification to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. §111.34 and 11 C.F.R. §111.40, the Commission
shall send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not
paid the civil money penalty.

For your information one of the committees that paid the fine assessed at RTB
will require a refund. Scott for Congress (AF #1356) filed the Year End Report after the
RTB finding. The report disclosed a lower level of activity than reported at the time of
RTB, thereby lowering the civil money penalty from $2,700 to $250. The committee paid
the civil money penalty assessed at RTB; we will therefore issue a refund of $2,450.

Additionally, the civil money penalties for two committees have been reduced to
$0. Saull for Senate (AF #1353) and John McKinnis for Congress Inc. (AF #1358) each
filed the Year End Report after the RTB finding, disclosing zero activity.
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RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. §434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so
indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate mailgrams.

(3) Issue a $2,450 refund to Scott for Congress (AF #1356).
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE NOT PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

SENSITIVE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Friday, June 17, 2005 12:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Wednesday, June 22, 2005 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT:

()

()

Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation

For The 2004 Year End Report. Memorandum from the Assistant
Staff Director, Reports Analysis Division dated

June 17, 2005.

| approve the recommendation(s)
| object to the recommendation(s)

| approve the recommendations except those following
to which | object (please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

| am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE:

SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final Determination
Recommendation for the 2004 Year End
Report.:

SAULL FOR SENATE, and ALICE

THORNTON STANLEY as treasurer;

JOHN MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC,
and WILLIAM L CALLAHAN as treasurer;

D i i i S

AF# 1333

AF# 1358
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 23, 2005
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U S IMMIGRATION REFORM PAC,and ) AF# 1385

WILLIAM W CHIP as treasurer, )
CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCUS ) AF# 1389
POLITICAL ACTION )

COMMITTEE(CBC-PAC), and Arthur R.
Collins as treasurer;

)
)



25092574735

e - - g - -
\ . .

Federal Election Commission Page 3
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 23, 2005

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commussion, do hereby
certify that on June 23, 2005 the Commission took the following actions on the
Administrative Fines Final Determination Re‘commendation for the 2004 Year End
Report. as recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated June 23,

2005, on the following committees:

fly
fwry
g
wy
o
%]
g
e 1]
R
841

Pl

AF#1353 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that SAULL
FOR SENATE, and ALICE THORNTON STANLEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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Federal Election Commission Page 4
Certification for Administrative Fines ‘
June 23, 2005

AF#1358 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that JOHN
MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC, and WILLIAM L CALLAHAN as treasurer ,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and
Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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Certification for Administrative Fines .
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‘ AF#1385 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that U S
IMMIGRATION REFORM PAC, and WILLIAM W CHIP as treasurer , violated 2

! U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate '
mailgram. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1389 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCUS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE(CBC-
PAC), and Arthur R. Collins as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil -
money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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Attest:
e UL
4 4 /
23 2005 L/l DNIsve
Date Mary W. HFlove ‘
Secret f the Commission



05175976600018 16105 791 FPES74740 _ ccH 18

N 1

- WESTERRN _

UNIORN.

LRy
wp
[P,
=¥
[Pn,
(%3}
M
8y
Ny
(A3

iy

WESTERN UNICN COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF MAILGRAM TOsWILLIAM L CALLAHAN
JOHN MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC
2828 GRACEFIELD RD
SILVYER SPRING MD 20904-1665

FECERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

DAYNA BROWN e
999 E ST NW # 709

WASHINGTON DC 20463

o

it

JUNE 24, 2005

¥

WILLIAM L CALLAHAN

JOHN MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC
2828 GRACEFIELD ROAD

SILVER SPRING MD 20904

€00391268
AF#: 1358

DEAR WILLIAM L CALLAHAN:S ‘ {

ON 0472772005y THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION ("™THE
COMMISSION®™) FOUND REASCN TO BELIEVE ("RTB8™) THAT JOHAN MCKINNIS FOR .
CONGRESS INC AND YOUs AS TREASURERy VIOLATED 2 UeSeCe 434LA) FOR
FILING LATE OR FAILING TO FILE THE 2004 YEAR-END REPORT. BY MAILGRAM
DATED 04728720059 THE COMMISSION SENT YOU NOTIFICATION OF THE RTS8 i
FINDING THAT INCLUDED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTB
STAGE OF $900 IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEOULE OF PENALTIES AT 11
CeFeRe 1lla43.

THE AMOQUNT OF THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY HAS BEEN CHANGED TO

REFLECT THE ACTUAL LEVEL OF ACTIVITY ON YOUR 2004 YEAR-END REPORT.
THEREFOREy THE COMMISSION MADE A FINAL DETERMINATICN ON 0672372005
THAT YOUs AS TREASURERy ANC JOHN MCKINNIS FOR CONGRESS INC VIOLATED
2 UeSeCe 434(A)y ASSESSED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$0400 IN ACCORDANCE WITH 11 CeFeRe 11143y AND VOTED TO CLOSE THE w
FILE.

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PRCVISIONS AT 2 UeSeCe 437GCAD(12) NO LONGER
APPLY AND THIS MATTER IS NCW PUBLIC. THE FILE WILL BE MADE A PART
OF THE PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT T0 11 CeFeRe 11le42{Ble ALTHCGUGH THE
FILE MUST BE PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS
FROM THE DATE OF THE CGMMISSIONNOTIFICATIONs THIS COULD OCCUR AT
ANYTIME FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION CF THE CCMMISSIONVOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THIS MATTERs PLEASE CONTACT
DAYNA BROWN ON OUR TOLL FREE NUMBER (800)424-9530 (AT THE PROMPT
PRESS 5) OR (202)694-1130.

SINCERELY,
SCOTT E« THOMASy CHAIRMAN
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Washington DC 20463

THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE # /35§
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